
 

 
Meeting of the Board of Directors 

February 15, 2024 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Regular Session begins at 9:00 a.m.  

Estimated Ending Time 11:30 a.m. 

 
City of Santa Rosa Council Chambers 

100 Santa Rosa Avenue 
Santa Rosa, CA 

Meeting will also streamed via Zoom: 
https://sonomacounty.zoom.us/j/92248855470?pwd=OFFVNUliWVh5Wk5SSzVyWWdWbndjdz09 

Webinar ID: 922 4885 5470 
US: +1 669 444 9171 

Passcode: 157476 

 

Meeting Agenda and Documents 

 

 

https://sonomacounty.zoom.us/j/92248855470?pwd=OFFVNUliWVh5Wk5SSzVyWWdWbndjdz09


 

ZERO WASTE SONOMA 

Meeting of the Board of Directors 

February 15, 2024 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
Regular Session begins at 9:00 a.m.  

 
Table of Contents 

 Description            Page 

Agenda               1 
Agenda Notes              4 
Item 4.1: Minutes of the January 18, 2024 Regular Meeting      5 
Item 4.2: January, February, and March 2024 Outreach Calendar    10 
Item 5:  Public Hearing for the Consideration of Organics Disposal Fee and Agency Surcharge 
   Fee Increases          12 
Item 6:  Approval of the Fiscal Year 2024-25 ZWS Final Budget     18 
Item 7:  Discussion and Possible Action for Sponsorship of Marine Flare Producer  
   Responsibility Senate Bill        30 
Item 8:  Discussion and Possible Action for an HHW EPR Model Ordinance   64 
  
 
 
     
 
 
 
 

Note: This packet is 81 pages total 



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B100    Santa Rosa, California  95403    Phone: 707/565-3579    www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

 Zero Waste Sonoma 

Meeting of the Board of Directors 

February 15, 2024 
REGULAR MEETING 

Regular Session begins at 9:00 a.m. 
Estimated Ending Time 11:30 a.m. 

City of Santa Rosa Council Chambers 
100 Santa Rosa Avenue 

Santa Rosa, CA 

Meeting will also streamed via Zoom: 
https://sonomacounty.zoom.us/j/92248855470?pwd=OFFVNUliWVh5Wk5SSzVyWWdWbndjdz09 

Webinar ID: 922 4885 5470 
US: +1 669 444 9171 

Passcode: 157476 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Public Comment may be submitted via recorded voice message or email.  Public comment 
may also be made by “raising your hand” using the Zoom platform.   

Voice recorded public comment: To submit public comment via recorded message, please 
call 707-565-4432 by 5:00 pm Wednesday, February 14th. State your name and the item 
number(s) on which you wish to speak. The recordings will be limited to two minutes. 
These comments may be played or read at the appropriate time during the board meeting. 

Email public comment: To submit an emailed public comment to the Board please email 
leslie.lukacs@sonoma-county.org and provide your name, the number(s) on which you 
wish to speak, and your comment. These comments will be emailed to all Board members 
and can be provided anytime leading up to and throughout the meeting. 

COMMITMENT TO CIVILITY: The ZWS Board of Directors has a commitment to civility.  To 
assure civility in its public meetings, the public is encouraged to engage in respectful dialog 
that supports freedom of speech and values diversity of opinion. Board Members, staff, 
and members of the public are expected to establish and maintain a cordial and respectful 
atmosphere during discussions; and foster meaningful dialogue free of personal 
attacks.  Members of the public must also adhere to the speaking time limit. Any 
commenters in violation of civility standards will be disconnected. 

1

https://sonomacounty.zoom.us/j/92248855470?pwd=OFFVNUliWVh5Wk5SSzVyWWdWbndjdz09
mailto:leslie.lukacs@sonoma-county.org


2300 County Center Drive, Suite B100    Santa Rosa, California  95403    Phone: 707/565-3579    www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Agenda 

Item 

1. Call to Order

2. Agenda Approval

3. Public Comments (items not on the agenda)

Consent (w/attachments) 

4.1    Minutes of the January 18, 2024 Meeting 
4.2    January, February, and March 2024 Outreach Calendar 

Regular Calendar 

5. Public Hearing for the Consideration of Organics Disposal Fee and Agency Surcharge
Fee Increases [Collard]

6. Approval of the Fiscal Year 2024-25 ZWS Final Budget [Collard]

7. Discussion and Possible Action for Sponsorship of Marine Flare Producer Responsibility
Senate Bill [Scott]

8. Discussion and Possible Action for an HHW EPR Model Ordinance [Scott]

9. Boardmember Comments – NO ACTION

10. Executive Director Report – VERBAL REPORT

11. Staff Comments – NO ACTION

12. Next ZWS meeting:  March 21, 2024

13. Adjourn

Consent Calendar:  These matters include routine financial and administrative actions and are usually approved by a single 
majority vote.  Any Boardmember may remove an item from the consent calendar. 

Regular Calendar:  These items include significant and administrative actions of special interest and are classified by 
program area.  The regular calendar also includes "Set Matters," which are noticed hearings, work sessions and public 
hearings. 

Public Comments: Pursuant to Rule 6, Rules of Governance of the Sonoma County Waste Management Agency/Zero Waste 
Sonoma, members of the public desiring to speak on items that are within the jurisdiction of the Agency shall have an 
opportunity at the beginning and during each regular meeting of the Agency.  When recognized by the Chair, each person  
should give his/her name and address and limit comments to 3 minutes.  Public comments will follow the staff report and 
subsequent Boardmember questions on that Agenda item and before Boardmembers propose a motion to vote on any 
item. 

2



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B100    Santa Rosa, California  95403    Phone: 707/565-3579    www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Disabled Accommodation:  If you have a disability that requires the agenda materials to be in an alternative format or 
requires an interpreter or other person to assist you while attending this meeting, please contact the Zero Waste Sonoma 
Office at 2300 County Center Drive, Suite B100, Santa Rosa, (707) 565-3788, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting, to 
ensure arrangements for accommodation by the Agency. 

Noticing:  This notice is posted 72 hours prior to the meeting on the internet at www.zerowastesonoma.gov  

3

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


To: Zero Waste Sonoma Board Members 

From: Leslie Lukacs, Executive Director 

Subject: February 15, 2024 Board Meeting Agenda Notes 

Consent Calendar 
These items include routine financial, informational and administrative items and staff recommends that 
they be approved en masse by a single vote.  Any Board member may remove an item from the consent 
calendar for further discussion or a separate vote by bringing it to the attention of the Chair.  

4.1   Minutes of the January 18, 2024 Meeting 
4.2   January, February and March 2024 Outreach Calendar  

5. Public Hearing for the Consideration of Organics Disposal Fee and Agency Surcharge Fee Increases.
Zero Waste Sonoma Board of Directors sets the Surcharge and disposal fees for organic materials collected 
at the landfill and transfer stations owned by Sonoma County and operated by Republic Services.  Staff 
recommends opening the public hearing on the increase of the Sonoma County Waste Management 
Agency surcharge (the “Waste Management Agency Fee” or “Surcharge”) and tipping fees related to 
wood waste and yard debris (collectively the “disposal fees for organic materials”), receiving public 
comment, closing the public hearing, and providing direction to staff regarding the amount of the tipping 
fee increases, if any.   

6. Approval of the Fiscal Year 2024-25 ZWS Final Budget.  The Board gave staff direction regarding the
Work Plan at the January 18, 2024 meeting.  In addition, the Board reviewed the Draft Budget, which
includes establishing funding guidelines and other parameters necessary to integrate the ZWS’s annu
budget with the County’s budget, accounting, and audit process.  The final step is the Board’s approv
with a required supermajority vote, of the Final Budget.  Staff recommends the Board approve the FY 24-
25 Zero Waste Sonoma Final Budget.  As this item is a budget item, it requires a super-majority (8/10)
vote for approva

7 Discussion and Possible Action for Sponsorship of Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Senate Bill
California Senator Catherine Blakespear (D-San Diego & Orange Counties) has partnered with the National 
Stewardship Action Council to introduce the Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act (Senate Bill number 
SB 1066). The bill will establish a producer responsibility program for pyrotechnic marine flares, a first of 
its kind in the United States. Staff recommends the Board approve Zero Waste Sonoma’s co-sponsorship 
of California Senator Blakespear’s Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act and direct the Executive 
Director and staff to execute a co-sponsorship letter and prepare any necessary documents or 
correspondence in connection with ZWS’s sponsorship of the proposed legislation. 

8. Discussion and Possible Action for an HHW EPR Model Ordinance. Implementing a full HHW EPR
program would be a faster approach to covering costs for ZWS and ratepayers. Staff recommends the
Board provide direction and authorization for staff to explore the possibility of developing a model
ordinance for extended producer responsibility of household hazardous waste.

4

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


January 18, 2024 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

Agenda Item #: 4.1 
Agenda Date: 2 

Minutes of the January 18, 2024 Meeting 

Zero Waste Sonoma met on January 18, 2024, at the City of Santa Rosa Council Chambers, 100 Santa 
Rosa Ave., Santa Rosa, California. 

Board Members Present: 
City of Cloverdale – David Kelley City of Santa Rosa – Renae Gundy 
City of Cotati – Susan Harvey  City of Sebastopol – Sandra Maurer 
City of Healdsburg – Larry Zimmer City of Sonoma – Ron Wellander 
City of Petaluma – Patrick Carter County of Sonoma – Trish Pisenti 
City of Rohnert Park – Emily Sanborn Town of Windsor – Debora Fudge 

Staff Present: 
Executive Director: Leslie Lukacs 
Counsel: Ethan Walsh  
Staff: Thora Collard, Kristen Sales, Katherine Cushwa, Courtney Scott, Sloane Pagal, Amber 
Johnson 
Agency Clerk: Amber Johnson  

1. Call to Order Closed Session 8:32 a.m.

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS (Sec. 54956.8)
Property:  5885 Pruitt Avenue Windsor, CA 95492 
Agency Negotiators:  Leslie Lukacs, Ethan Walsh 
Negotiating Parties:  David M. Carroll, John M. Shea II 

   Under Negotiation: Price and terms of payment 

2. Adjourn Closed Session at 8:58 a.m.

3. Call to Order Regular Meeting
Regular session was called to order at 9:07 a.m.
Introductions

4. Agenda Approval

5. Public Comments (items not on the agenda)
Allan Tose – Wanted to address the board with the status of the Stage Gulch Organics compost
facility project.

6. Election of Officers

Motion: For the appointment of Officers for the 2024 term as follows:
         Chair: City of Healdsburg 

5



January 18, 2024 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

   Vice Chair: City of Petaluma 
   Chair Pro Tempore: City of Rohnert Park 

First: City of Cloverdale – David Kelley 
Second: Town of Windsor – Debora Fudge 

Vote Count: 
City of Cloverdale AYE City of Santa Rosa AYE 
City of Cotati  AYE City of Sebastopol AYE 
City of Healdsburg AYE City of Sonoma  AYE 
City of Petaluma AYE County of Sonoma AYE 
City of Rohnert Park AYE Town of Windsor AYE 

AYES -10- NOES -0- ABSENT -0- ABSTAIN -0- 
Motion passed. 

7. Consent (w/attachments)
7.1     Minutes of the November 16, 2023 Regular Meeting 
7.2 November and December 2023, January and February 2024 Outreach Calendar 
7.3     Annual Review of the ZWS Rules of Governance 
 7.4 Budget Adjustment Contingency – Property Purchase 
7.5     Careit Agreement Renewal 

Board Comment: 
• Highlighting that item 7.4 is a budget adjustment that requires a super majority vote.

Public Comments: 
None 

Motion: For approval of the consent calendar. 

First: City of Petaluma – Patrick Carter 
Second: City of Cotati –Susan Harvey 

Vote Count: 
City of Cloverdale AYE City of Santa Rosa AYE 
City of Cotati  AYE City of Sebastopol AYE 
City of Healdsburg AYE City of Sonoma  AYE 
City of Petaluma AYE County of Sonoma AYE 
City of Rohnert Park AYE Town of Windsor AYE 

AYES -10- NOES -0- ABSENT -0- ABSTAIN -0- 
Motion passed. 

Regular Calendar 

6



January 18, 2024 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

8. Green Halo Agreement

Board Comments/Action Items:
• What are the steps if the agreement is amended?
• What will the administrative position be doing in addition to Green Halo?

Public Comments: 
None 

Motion:  To approve the agreements included as part of this Board item for 
jurisdictions to implement waste management tracking software in support of the Zero Waste 
Sonoma Model Ordinance for Building Project Materials Management, Deconstruction, Reuse, and 
Recycling Requirements. The Board authorizes the Executive Director to amend the agreement to 
allow for the addition of additional member agencies if needed. 

First: City of Petaluma – Patrick Carter 
Second: City of Cotati – Susan Harvey 

Vote Count:  
City of Cloverdale   AYE City of Santa Rosa  AYE 
City of Cotati    AYE City of Sebastopol AYE 
City of Healdsburg  AYE City of Sonoma  AYE 
City of Petaluma  AYE County of Sonoma AYE 
City of Rohnert Park  AYE Town of Windsor AYE 

AYES -10- NOES -0- ABSENT -0- ABSTAIN -0- 
Motion passed. 

9. Draft FY 24/25 Work Plan

Board Comments/Action Items:
• Where in the organics section does it talk about moving forward with new composting?
• Why is the full time Administrative Aide position sought and what will their ongoing

support function be?
• Why Administrative Aide over Waste Management Specialist?
• Does the office need to be reconfigured to accommodate the new position?
• What is included in item 2.8, the Technical Assistance Grant for Polystyrene?
• Please explain the cost for the NAHMMA Conference.
• Glad to see the Reuse/Repair Workshop Mini Grants included.

Public Comments: 
None 

Motion: To approve the FY 24-25 Work Plan. 

First: City of Cotati – Susan Harvey 
Second: City of Sebastopol – Sandra Maurer 

7



January 18, 2024 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

Vote Count:  
City of Cloverdale   AYE City of Santa Rosa  AYE 
City of Cotati    AYE City of Sebastopol AYE 
City of Healdsburg  AYE City of Sonoma  AYE 
City of Petaluma  AYE County of Sonoma AYE 
City of Rohnert Park  AYE Town of Windsor AYE 

AYES -10- NOES -0- ABSENT -0- ABSTAIN -0- 
Motion passed. 

10. Draft FY 24/25 Budget

Board Comments/Action Items:
• How do you address the contamination in organics?
• What are the current gate rates and are they projected to change for next year?
• Are the contingency fund balances going up due to anticipated increase in revenues,

decrease in revenues, or both?
• Does the agency have a reserve policy? Would be great to highlight that in the budget

report.
• Appreciate the explanation for items above $10,000 with a 5% change.
• Are you coming back for a future meeting to show the impact to the rate payers for these

increases?

Public Comments: 
None 

11. CalVolunteers Grant Year End Presentation

Board Comments/Action Items:
• How competitive is the biding process for the second round?
• Is how successful we have been showed in the grant application process?
• If there is an opportunity to seek additional funding, recommends staff does that to

support this program.
• Excited to see the career advancement opportunities in this.
• Are we recovering food from larger assisted living facilities?
• Want to advice staff to look at electric vehicle opportunities for the added vehicle

purchasing.

Public Comments: 
None 

12. Board Member Comments – NO ACTION

13. Executive Director Report – VERBAL REPORT

8



January 18, 2024 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

14. Staff Comments – NO ACTION

15. Next ZWS meeting: February 15, 2024

16. Adjourn: 10:12 a.m.

Submitted by: Amber Johnson 

9



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  Visit our website at www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

 Agenda Item #:  4.2 
  Agenda Date: 2/15/2024 

ITEM: January, February, March 2024 Outreach Calendar 

January 2024 OUTREACH  

Start date End date Start time End time Event 

1/2/24 1/2/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Santa Rosa, E) 

1/9/24 1/9/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Sebastopol) 

1/10/24 1/10/24 8:00 AM 11:00 AM Petalma DMV 

1/12/24 1/14/24 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event (Luther Burbank Center)

1/16/24 1/16/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Healdsburg) 

1/17/24 1/17/24 5:30 PM 7:00 PM ZWS Presentation to Kenwood - Glen Ellen Rotary 

1/20/24 1/21/24 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event (Oakmont)

1/23/24 1/23/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Larkfield) 

1/30/24 1/30/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Cotati) 

February 2024 OUTREACH 
Start date End date Start time End time Event 

2/1/24 2/10/24 10:00 AM 4:00 PM 14th Annual Steelhead Lake Sonoma Festival (Unincorporated) 

2/6/24 2/6/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Kenwood) 

2/7/24 2/7/24 8:00 AM 11:00 AM Santa Rosa DMV 

2/13/24 2/13/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Rincon Valley) 

2/16/24 2/19/24 12:00 PM 9:00 PM Cloverdale Citrus Fair (Cloverdale) 

2/20/24 2/20/24 3:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Cloverdale) 

2/23/24 2/25/24 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event (Cloverdale)

2/27/24 2/27/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Santa Rosa, W) 

10



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  Visit our website at www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

March 2024 OUTREACH 
Start date End date Start time End time Event 

3/5/24 3/5/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Guerneville) 

3/7/24 3/7/24 1:00 PM 2:00 PM Plastics: Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Research (SSU Webinar) 

3/8/24 3/10/24 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event (Graton)

3/9/24 3/9/24 10:00 AM 4:00 PM North Bay Science Discovery Day (Santa Rosa) 

3/12/24 3/12/24 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Sonoma) 

3/19/24 3/19/24 3:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Windsor) 

3/26/24 3/26/24 2:00 PM 7:00 PM HHW Collection Event (Oakmont) 

11



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Agenda Item #: 5 
Cost Center: All 
Staff Contact:  Collard 
Agenda Date:  2/15/2024 
Approved By:  LL 

ITEM:  Public Hearing for the Consideration of Organics Disposal Fee and 
Agency Surcharge Fee Increases 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends opening the public hearing on the increase of the Sonoma County Waste
Management Agency surcharge (the “Waste Management Agency Fee” or “Surcharge”) and
tipping fees related to wood waste and yard debris (collectively the “disposal fees for organic
materials”), receiving public comment, closing the public hearing, and providing direction to staff
regarding the amount of the tipping fee increases, if any.  If the Board adjusts the tipping fees,
staff recommends the adoption of the Resolution making the fee adjustments effective April 1,
2024.  Approval of this item requires a supermajority (8/10) vote.

II. BACKGROUND

The Sonoma County Waste Management Agency (“Zero Waste Sonoma” or “ZWS”) Board of
Directors sets the Surcharge and disposal fees for organic materials collected at the landfill and
transfer stations owned by Sonoma County (“County”) and operated by Republic Services of
Sonoma County, Inc. (“Republic”).

Waste Management Agency Fee or Surcharge (“Zero Waste Sonoma Fee”)
The ZWS Fee is charged on waste delivered to the County landfill or transfer stations.  Republic
collects the Waste Management Agency Fee revenues, remits them to the County, which in turn,
deposits the revenues with ZWS.

The ZWS Fee covers the costs of programs, including but not limited to: recycling and disposal of
Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) from the member agencies (“Members’”) jurisdictions (“HHW
Program”); education regarding recycling, composting and other methods of waste diversion to
Members and the public (the “Education Program”); and, ZWS operations.

• The HHW Program provides the following services: HHW collection, E-waste collection and
disposal, E-waste sorting and recycling, E-waste recycling events, oil and filter recycling,
promotion of the use and sale of refillable propane cylinders, HHW education and
outreach, and HHW reporting.

• The Education Program provides the following services: publication of the recycling guide
in English and Spanish, the Eco-Desk hotline, outreach to Spanish-speaking residents in
Members’ jurisdictions, Zero Waste Sonoma website maintenance, outreach and
marketing, food recovery education, repair and reuse workshops, and AB 939 reporting
requirements.

The current Waste Management Agency Fee is $8.60 per ton.  

12



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Disposal Fees for Organic Materials  
The disposal fees for organic materials are levied against yard waste and wood waste delivered to 
the County landfill or transfer stations for composting. Republic collects these revenues, remits 
them to the County, which in turn, deposits the revenues with ZWS. 

The disposal fees for organic materials cover the costs of the Organic Materials Program.  The 
Organic Materials Program provides the following services: municipal composting, composting 
education and outreach, and implementation of SB 1383 regulations related to organic waste 
diversion. 

The disposal fees for organic materials are $82.00 per ton.  ZWS proposes increasing the disposal 
fees for organic materials by $7.75 per ton to $89.75 per ton to adequately fund the Organic 
Materials Program and the implementation of SB 1383 regulations. 

III. DISCUSSION

Need for Fee Increases:
Staff is requesting an increase of $7.75/ton to the Organics tipping fee (new rate $89.75/ton) to
cover the annual price increases to organics processing and hauling fees.

ZWS is working towards the addition of a second HHW facility in the northern portion of the
County.  In order to meet the financing needs for this project, debt-servicing reserve contributions
are continuing.  The planned increase for this project plus the addition of a new full-time staff
person require an increase to the tipping fee.

Ratepayer Impact Analysis:
The proposed increase to the organics disposal fees is $7.75/ton and an increase of $0.92/ton to
the ZWS Fee.  For customers receiving solid waste collection services by a solid waste hauler, this
will have a very small impact on residential rates, estimated to be an average increase of $0.41 per
month per customer (for a 32 gallon cart), this number will vary by can size and jurisdiction based
on current rates.

The proposed fee changes are summarized below:

Fee Descriptions Existing ZWS 
Fees 

Fee 
Increase 

New 
Rate 

Organic Tipping Fee $82.00/ton $7.75/ton $89.75/ton 
Agency Surcharge $8.60/ton $0.92/ton $9.52/ton 

IV. FUNDING IMPACT

Organics Revenue
Current Tipping Fee $82.00/ton $7,205,340 
Proposed Tipping Fee $89.75/ton $7,886,333 
Increased organics revenue $   680,993 

13



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Surcharge increase 
Current Surcharge $8.60/ton  $3,395,245 
Proposed Surcharge $9.52/ton  $3,758,457 
Increase surcharge revenue $   363,212 

The impact of SB1383 regulations, the addition of a new HHW facility, and the costs of managing 
out of county composting contribute to the need for these increases. Failing to increase fees 
above current levels would result in inadequate monitoring of compliance efforts and could lead 
to financial penalties to the Members for non-compliance.   

V. ATTACHMENTS

Resolution

14



RESOLUTION NO.: 2024-5 

DATED: February 15, 2024 

RESOLUTION OF SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY (ALSO KNOWN AS ZERO WASTE SONOMA) 
INCREASING DISPOSAL FEES FOR WOOD WASTE AND YARD DEBRIS, AND INCREASING THE WASTE 

MANAGEMENT AGENCY FEE 

WHEREAS, the Amended and Restated Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement for the Sonoma County 
Waste Management Agency (“Agreement”) was approved by all members on April 18, 2017 to allow member 
agencies (“Members”) to jointly exercise their powers to address issues related to the management of wood 
waste, yard waste, and household hazardous waste (“HHW”) and to provide public education related to waste 
diversion within the Members’ jurisdictions; and 

WHEREAS, under the Agreement, the Sonoma County Waste Management Agency (“Zero Waste 
Sonoma”) has the authority to: (1) provide recycling and disposal of Household HHW from the Members’ 
jurisdictions (the “HHW Program”); (2) provide services and programs to divert organic material, including but 
not limited to yard waste and wood waste, from landfills (the “Organic Materials Program”); (3) provide 
education regarding recycling, composting and other methods of waste diversion to Members and the public 
(the “Education Program”); (4) conduct, prepare and submit all monitoring and reporting as a Regional Agency 
as required pursuant to the Integrated Waste Management Act (the “Reporting Program”); and, (5) conduct 
additional activities and programs to further increase waste diversion; and 

WHEREAS, under the Organic Materials Program, yard waste (including residential food waste) and 
wood waste is collected and processed from Members’ jurisdictions (the “Composting Program”) and funded 
by a tonnage disposal fee or tip fee levied against yard waste and wood waste received at the Central Landfill 
and transfer stations; and  

WHEREAS, this Agreement requires the County to collect and remit to Zero Waste Sonoma the above 
revenues collected from the tonnage disposal fees to fund the Organics Materials Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Organic Materials Program provides the following services: municipal composting, tree 
recycling, composting education and outreach, and implementation of SB 1383 regulations related to organic 
waste diversion; and 

WHEREAS, Zero Waste Sonoma’s programs are funded in part through a tip fee charge on waste 
entering the County of Sonoma’s (“County’s”) waste disposal system (the “Waste Management Agency Fee” or 
“Surcharge”); and 

WHEREAS, this Agreement requires the County to collect and remit to Zero Waste Sonoma the 
revenues collected from the Waste Management Agency Fee to fund the HHW Program and the Education 
Program, and to defray the costs of capital improvements, operations, and maintenance for the Zero Waste 
Sonoma’s  programs; and 

WHEREAS, the HHW Program provides the following services: HHW collection, E-waste collection and 
disposal, E-waste sorting and recycling, E-waste recycling events, oil and filter recycling, promotion of the use 
and sale of refillable propane cylinders, HHW education and outreach, and HHW reporting; and 

WHEREAS, the Education Program provides the following services: publication of the recycling guide in 
English and Spanish, the Eco-Desk hotline, outreach to Spanish-speaking residents in Members’ jurisdictions, 
Zero Waste Sonoma website maintenance, outreach and marketing, food recovery education, repair and reuse 

15



workshops, and AB 939 reporting requirements; and 

WHEREAS, existing disposal fees for wood waste and yard debris, and the Waste Management Agency 
Fee, are insufficient to defray future costs Zero Waste Sonoma’s programs; and 

WHEREAS, in order for the fees to cover the costs of providing services or regulatory programs for 
which the fees are imposed, the fees must be adjusted to reflect reasonable estimated costs of service; and 

WHEREAS, the fees are subject to the adoption procedures set forth in Government Code section 
66018; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Government Code section 66018, the Board of Directors called a public 
hearing for February 15, 2024, for the purpose of receiving public comments to the proposed fees.  Notice of 
the public hearing was given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation within the County once a 
week for two weeks commencing at least 10 days prior to the public hearing, with at least 5 days intervening 
between the first and last publication. On February 15, 2024, at the time and place set for the public hearing, 
the Board heard and considered all oral and written presentations and comments made regarding the 
proposed fees; and 

WHEREAS, the Board now wishes to adopt the new or increased Fees 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the Board of Directors of the Sonoma County Waste Management 
Agency hereby finds, determines, and resolves as follows:    

SECTION 1. The above Recitals are true and correct and by this reference incorporated herein. 

SECTION 2. The Board hereby directs the County to increase the amount of disposal fees collected 
by the County and remitted to Zero Waste Sonoma by the amounts listed below, effective April 1, 2023: 

Disposal Fee Type All County of Sonoma-Owned 
Solid Waste Facilities 

Current Fee 

All County of Sonoma-Owned 
Solid Waste Facilities 

Proposed Fee 
Wood/Yard Waste $82.00 per ton $89.75 per ton 
Surcharge $8.60 per ton $9.52 per ton 

SECTION 3. The Board called a public hearing on February 15, 2024, for the purpose of receiving 
public comments to the proposed fees.  Notice of the public hearing was given by publication in a newspaper of 
general circulation within the County once a week for two weeks commencing at least 10 days prior to the 
public hearing, with at least 5 days intervening between the first and last publication. On February 15, 2024, at 
the time and place set for the public hearing, the Board heard and considered all oral and written presentations 
and comments made regarding the proposed fees. 

SECTION 4. The Board finds and determines that: 

(a) The fees established by this resolution:

(1) are imposed for a specific government service provided directly to the payor, or
for reasonable regulatory costs of the Member Agencies or other rules or ordinances;  

(2) are no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental
activity for which the fee is imposed; and 

16



(3) the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or
reasonable relationship to the payor’s burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity for 
which the fee is imposed; and  

(b) The fees are not taxes within the meaning of California Constitution article XIII C, section 1(e).

SECTION 5. The Board finds and determines that the proposed fees are not subject to 
environmental review under the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”). First, the proposed fees, in and 
of themselves, do not have potential for resulting in either a direct physical change in the environment, or a 
reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment and therefore are not considered a 
“project” under CEQA. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21065, 14 Cal. Code Regs., § 15378, subd. (a).) Second, the fees 
are covered by the general rule that CEQA applies only to projects which have the potential for causing a 
significant effect on the environment; here, there is no possibility that the proposed fees, in and of themselves, 
may have a significant effect on the environment.  (14 Cal. Code Regs., § 15061, subd. (b)(3).) 

SECTION 6. If any section, subsection, clause or phrase in this Resolution or the application thereof 
to any person or circumstances is for any reason held invalid, the validity of the remainder of this Resolution or 
the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. The Board 
hereby declares that it would have passed this Resolution and each section, subsection, sentence, clause, or 
phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, or phrases 
or the application thereof to any person or circumstance be held invalid. 

PASSED, APPROVED, and ADOPTED, by the Board of Directors of the Sonoma County Waste 
Management Agency, on this 15th day of February, 2024.  

MEMBERS: 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Cloverdale Cotati County Healdsburg Petaluma 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Rohnert Park Santa Rosa Sebastopol Sonoma Windsor 

AYES: - - NOES: - - ABSENT: - - ABSTAIN: - - 

SO ORDERED 

The within instrument is a correct copy 
of the original on file with this office. 

ATTEST:                 DATE: 

_______________________________________ 
Clerk the Sonoma County Waste Management Agency of the State of California in and for the 
County of Sonoma 

17



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579 www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Agenda Item #: 6 
Cost Center: All 
Staff Contact:  Collard 
Agenda Date:  2/15/2024 
Approved By:  LL 

ITEM:  Approval of the Fiscal Year 2024-25 ZWS Final Budget 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Board approve the FY 24-25 Zero Waste Sonoma Final Budget.  As this item
is a budget item, it requires a super-majority (8/10) vote for approval.

II. BACKGROUND

The approval of the Work Plan outlining contractor and staff costs for individual programs and
planned projects is the first step in the budget development process.  The Board gave staff
direction regarding the Work Plan at the January 18, 2024 meeting.  In addition, the Board
reviewed the Draft Budget, which includes establishing funding guidelines and other parameters
necessary to integrate the ZWS’s annual budget with the County’s budget, accounting, and audit
process.  The final step is the Board’s approval, with a required supermajority vote, of the Final
Budget.

III. DISCUSSION

The FY 24-25 Draft Budget is similar to the FY 23-24 Budget.  This draft budget is focused on
maintaining core ZWS programs and additional programs related to the implementation of
SB1383.

Included in this budget is an increase to the ZWS surcharge and organics tipping fee.  Staff had
anticipated increasing the ZWS Fee in the current fiscal year.  In February 2021, staff reported to
the Board a financial strategy for financing of a new HHW facility.  At that time, R3 Consulting
prepared a fifteen-year fee schedule to achieve those goals.  Staff recommends increasing the
ZWS Fee $.92/ton (new rate $9.52/ton) to stay in line with the scheduled increases and make a
full contribution to the Debt Servicing Reserve Fund.  Staff is requesting an increase of $7.75/ton
to the Organics tipping fee (new rate $89.75/ton) to cover the annual price increases to organics
processing fees.  The new fee increase will be effective starting April 1, 2024.

Rate Type Current ZWS Surcharge 
Rate FY 23/24 

Proposed ZWS Surcharge 
Rate FY 24/25  

Difference 

Gate Rate $8.60 $9.52  $0.92 
Organics Tip Fee $82.00 $89.75 $7.75 

18



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579 www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Explanation of Notable Differences Between FY 2023-24 and FY 2024-25 

County of Sonoma 
In the past tonnage amounts have increased steadily over the years.  The draft budget tries to 
predict the annual tonnage amounts for projecting revenue from tipping fees and the Agency 
surcharge.  The past two years tonnage has come in under projected amounts.  This year’s budget 
is being proposed based on actual tonnage from FY 22/23 plus 1%.    

State Grant Revenue  
The auditor’s office has requested we use account 42360 for State Grant Revenue, so the budget 
numbers shift to this new account.  There was a decrease in this account due to the grant ending.  

Operating Transfers  
Last year’s budget contained year-end OT cleanup transfers.  We are requesting to increase the 
annual contribution (from $745,000 to $900,000) to debt servicing for the HHW facility funding. 

Administration Services 
This past fiscal year the unions approved increases to staff salaries. We are also requesting the 
addition of an Administrative Aide position for the administration of the CD&D ordinance and 
grants. 

Hazardous Waste Disposal 
In the past, ZWS has reimbursed Mendo Recycle for the Sonoma County residents who participate 
in their HHW disposal events.  Mendo Recycle has suspended their disposal events leaving our 
residents with no local options for disposal.  The increase on this line item will allow for two 
disposal events in The Sea Ranch.  Our last event was very well attended.  

Special Department Expense 
ZWS has been offering micro grants to the community to increase capacity for waste diversion 
programs over the past couple of years.  We currently are offering micro grants to assist food 
establishments implement reusable practices, Food Recovery Organizations to increase capacity, 
and are requesting to add a micro grant to foster communities to host more repair/reuse fairs. 

Conclusion 
This budget reflects the changes needed to implement the programs outlined in the FY24/25 
Work Plan.  Between all funds, staff estimates a negative net cost (increase to the reserves) of 
($1,013) for the Fiscal Year.  There is a proposed draw down to the Organics Reserves [$7,409] and 
Contingency [276,624] fund balances for one-time contingency fund projects.  This budget also 
plans for an increased recommended contribution to the debt servicing reserve fund.  Education 
and HHW core programs are projected to operate within the budget with no draw down to 
reserves.  Staff believes it is a sensible budget which reflects the direction given to staff. 

IV. ATTACHMENTS
Final FY 2024-25 Budget
History and Fund Balances
Resolution

19



Zero Waste Sonoma
FY 24-25 Final Budget Summary

Organics H H W Ed & Outreach Organics Res. Contin. Res. Unfund Liab Debt Srv.R Total All
78111 78104 78110 78103 78109 78112 Divisions

REVENUES
42358 State Other Funding 258,500      117,472      1,936,579    -               -               2,312,551     
42601 County of Sonoma 7,886,333  2,781,258  977,199        -               -               11,644,790  
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash -               15,100        -                 29,289        48,000        16,000       108,389        
46029 Donations/Contributions -               214,617      69,433          -               -               284,049        
47101 Transfers In - w/in Fund -               -               3,981            -               -               900,000  903,981        

TOTAL REVENUES 8,144,833  3,128,447  2,987,192    29,289        48,000        16,000      900,000  15,253,760  

EXPENDITURES
51041 Insurance - Liability 10,319        1,916          2,506            -               -               14,742          
51071 Maintenance 10,000        10,000          
51201 Administration Services 457,633      267,118      681,080        24,318        201,407      1,631,556     
51205 Ad/Marketing Svc 25,000        17,500        2,500            -               -               45,000          
51206 Accounting/Auditing Servic 14,084        2,616          3,420            1,000          1,000          1,000         1,000       24,120          
51207 Client  Accounting Services 25,900        4,810          6,290            -               -               37,000          
51212 Legal Services 5,000          2,000          15,000          10,000        20,000        52,000          
51213 Engineer Services -               -               -                 -               -               - 
51214 Temp Services -               - -                 
51225 Training Services -               1,600          -                 -               -               1,600             
51229 Hazardous Waste Disposal 47,000        47,000          
51241 Outside Printing 3,500            3,500             
51249 Other Professional Services 278,500      85,709        1,915,883    -               -               2,280,092     
51401 Rents / Leases - Equipment 2,192          407              532                -               -               3,132             
51421 Rents / Leases - Bldg/Land 3,008          15,559        4,480            -               -               23,047          
51507 Special Departmental Exp. 105,000      105,000        
51803 Other Contract Services 7,236,076  1,612,737  35,000          -               45,000        8,928,813     
51805 Sponsorships 5,000            5,000             
51901 Telecommunication Data L 1,080          1,032          11,550          -               -               13,662          
51902 Telecommunication Usage 24                24                1,185            -               -               1,233             
51904 ISD - Baseline Services 24,334        8,046          16,568          -               -               48,948          
51906 ISD - Supplemental Project -               -               400                -               -               400                
51909 Telecommunication Wirele 900              2,040          6,600            -               -               9,540             
51911 Mail Services 250              100              500                -               -               850                
51915 ISD - Reprographics Service -               -               -                 -               -               - 
51916 County Services 32,347        10,274        11,695          379              217              54,911          
51919 EFS Charges -               -               -                 -               -               - 
51922 County Car Expense 484              90                118                -               -               692                
51923 Unclaimable County Car Ex -               -               50 50 
52091 Memberships/Certification 12,570        8,833          34,016          -               -               55,419          
52111 Office Supplies 2,000          2,500          11,920          1,000          1,000          18,420          
52114 Freight/Postage -               10,000          10,000          
52115 Subscriptions 6,336          1,177          1,539            9,051             
52118 Print Supplies (Zero Waste Gd) 12,400          12,400          
52162 Special Departmental Expe 1,400          260              167,840        -               56,000        -             -           225,500        
52163 Professional Development 4,500          13,100        25,620          -               -               43,220          
52191 Utilities Expense -               2,900          -                 2,900             

        SUBTOTAL 8,143,937  2,224,348  2,987,192 36,697 324,624 1,000 1,000 13,718,798  
OTHER CHARGES
57011 Transfers Out - within a Fun -               903,981      -                 -               -               903,981        
57015 Transfers Out - All Others -               -               -                 -               -               - 

        SUBTOTAL - 903,981 - - - 903,981 
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 8,143,937  3,128,329  2,987,192    36,697        324,624      1,000         1,000       14,622,779  
NET COST (896)            (118)            0 7,409          276,624      (15,000)     (899,000) (630,981)       

20



FY 24-25 FINAL BUDGET
ZERO WASTE SONOMA

REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE HISTORY 
Summary 

Actual Actual Actual Budgeted Estimated Reqested %
FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 Difference Change

REVENUES
42358 State Other Funding 323,080 570,367 840,126 2,352,060 1,152,060
42360 State Grant Revenue 509,461 2,312,551 (39,509) -2%
42601 County of Sonoma 8,962,064 9,632,164 10,111,042 10,910,850 10,910,850 11,644,790 733,940 6%
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash 65,394 50,563 159,793 90,106 56,792 108,389 18,283 17%
44050 Unrealized Gains and Losses (45,119) (320,191) (31,614) 0 0 0 0 0%
46029 Donations/Contributions 202,950 234,302 285,339 293,674 293,674 284,049 (9,625) -3%
46050 Cancelled/Stale Dated Warrants 0 144 163 0 0 0 0 0%
46200 Revenue Appl PY Misc Revenue 7,287 86,336 99,328 0 0 0 0 0%
46210 Refunds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 9,515,657 10,253,685 11,973,637 13,646,690 12,413,376 14,349,779 703,089 5%
47101 Transfers In - Within a Fund 0 0 745,000 2,332,657 1,285,700 903,981 (1,428,676) 0%
48004 Residual Equity Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 0 745,000 2,332,657 1,285,700 903,981 (1,428,676) 0%

TOTAL REVENUES 9,515,657 10,253,685 12,718,637 15,979,347 13,699,076 15,253,760 (725,587) -5%

PENDITURES
51041 Insurance - Liability 11,632 12,562 13,229 13,500 13,454 14,742 1,242 8%
51071 Maintenance - Bldg 2,241 2,923 2,348 15,000 0 10,000 (5,000) -50%
51201 Administration Services 1,080,769 1,055,760 1,220,829 1,378,448 1,378,448 1,631,556 253,108 16%
51205 Advertising/Marketing Svc 8,651 15,174 4,443 19,500 19,500 45,000 25,500 57%
51206 Accounting/Auditing Services 18,800 17,000 0 19,000 19,000 24,120 5,120 21%
51207 Client  Accounting Services 19,329 22,511 34,880 30,000 30,000 37,000 7,000 19%
51212 Outside Counsel-Legal Advice 46,676 22,186 19,087 54,000 34,000 52,000 (2,000) -4%
51214 Agency Extra/Temp Help 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51225 Training Services 783 900 0 1,600 1,600 1,600 0 0%
52119 Hazardous Waste Disposal 27,283 8,567 4,000 30,000 30,000 47,000 17,000 36%
51241 Outside Printing 0 727 4,948 3,500 30,000 3,500 0 0%
51249 Other Professional Services 266,259 481,622 1,349,186 2,300,475 1,100,475 2,280,092 (20,383) -1%
51401 Rents and Leases - Equipment 2,812 2,568 3,163 3,000 3,000 3,132 132 4%
51421 Rents and Leases - Bldg/Land 4,815 6,435 12,712 21,842 21,842 23,047 1,205 5%
51507 Special Departmental Expense 43,413 117,043 77,025 174,300 174,300 105,000 (69,300) -66%
51801 Other Services 3,379 7,265 9,734 0 0 0 0 0%
51803 Other Contract Services 7,338,257 7,334,199 7,971,878 9,133,035 9,108,035 8,928,813 (204,222) -2%
51805 County Sponsorships 0 3,935 4,700 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0%
51901 Telecommunication Data Lines 7,948 7,989 7,337 16,800 16,800 13,662 (3,138) -23%
51902 Telecommunication Usage 1,134 1,256 1,198 1,367 1,367 1,233 (134) -11%
51903 Telecommunication Installation 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51904 ISD - Baseline Services 36,478 37,445 35,740 40,500 40,500 48,948 8,448 17%
51905 ISD - Improvement Projects 526 42 2,085 0 0 0 0 0%
51906 ISD - Supplemental Projects 150 0 0 0 0 400 400 0%
51907 ISD - Device Modernization 12,242 0 2,037 0 1,938 0 0 0%
51909 Telecommunication Wireless Svc 7,706 8,649 9,751 7,740 7,740 9,540 1,800 19%
51911 Mail Services 9 808 117 850 850 850 0 0%
51912 Records Services 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51916 County Services 32,285 31,196 7,204 54,911 54,911 54,911 (0) 0%
51922 County Car Expense 1,936 (1,604) 1,364 1,500 1,500 692 (808) -117%
51923 Unclaimable County Car Expense 7 7 18 50 50 50 0 0%
52091 Memberships/Certifications 10,728 38,720 47,080 52,359 52,359 55,419 3,060 6%
52111 Office Supplies 2,579 17,090 14,677 21,720 21,720 18,420 (3,300) -18%
52114 Freight/Postage 11,063 3,037 1,733 15,000 15,000 10,000 (5,000) -50%
52115 Subscriptions (web) 4,920 7,263 5,547 925 925 9,051 8,126 90%
52118 Printing and Binding Supplies 1,542 5,311 11,228 6,400 6,400 12,400 6,000 48%
52162 Special Departmental Expense 7,281 134,069 26,362 209,440 209,440 225,500 16,060 7%
52163 Professional Development 1,039 12,088 37,650 41,020 43,520 43,220 2,200 5%
52191 Utilities 2,575 2,630 2,798 6,132 6,132 2,900 (3,232) -111%
53402 Depreciation Expense 8,692 8,692 5,167 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 9,025,941 9,426,067 10,951,258 13,678,914 12,449,806 13,718,797 39,883 0%
57011 Transfers Out - Within a Fund 0 0 745,000 2,332,657 1,654,052 903,981 (1,428,676) -158%
57015 Transfers Out - All Others 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 0 745,000 2,332,657 0 903,981 (1,428,676) 0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 9,025,941 9,426,067 11,696,258 16,011,571 12,449,806 14,622,778 (1,388,793) -9%

NET COST (489,716) (827,618) (1,022,379) 32,224 164,109 (630,982)

ROUNDING ERROR 2 2
FUND BALANCE
Beginning Fund Balance 8,576,817 6,883,992 8,781,820 8,781,820 8,617,711
Ending Fund Balance 6,883,992 8,781,820 10,939,086 8,617,711 9,248,693

21



FY 24-25 FINAL BUDGET
ZERO WASTE SONOMA

REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE HISTORY 
Organics 78111

Actual Actual Actual Budgeted Estimated Reqested %
FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 Difference Change

REVENUES
42601 County of Sonoma 6,658,704 7,004,421 6,937,009 7,396,236 7,396,236 7,886,333 490,097 6%
42358 State Other Funding 0 347,929 60,926 818,500 818,500
42360 State Grant Revenue 147,156 258,500 (560,000) -217%
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
44050 Unrealized Gains and Losses 920 (50,354) (7,118) 0 0 0 0 0%
46029 Donations/Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
46210 Refunds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
46200 PY Revenue - Miscellaneous 870 67,569 (64,033) 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 6,660,494 7,369,565 7,073,940 8,214,736 8,214,736 8,144,833 (69,904) -1%
47101 OT-Within Enterprise 0 65,000 0 540,700 540,700 0 (540,700) 0%
48004 Residual Equity Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 65,000 0 540,700 540,700 0 (540,700) 0%

TOTAL REVENUES 6,660,494 7,434,565 7,073,940 8,755,436 8,755,436 8,144,833 (610,604) -7%

EXPENDITURES
51041 Insurance - Liability 1,338 8,542 8,995 9,180 9,180 10,319 1,139 11%
51201 Administration Services 176,754 357,149 346,909 401,704 401,704 457,633 55,930 12%
51205 Advertising/Marketing Svc 0 0 0 0 0 25,000 25,000 0%
51206 Accounting/Auditing Services 6,000 10,200 0 10,200 10,200 14,084 3,884 28%
51207 Client  Accounting Services 2,223 15,308 23,718 20,400 20,400 25,900 5,500 21%
51212 Outside Counsel-Legal Advice 12,887 5,555 308 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0%
51241 Outside Printing 2,295
51249 Other Professional Services 0 282,706 100,738 798,500 798,500 278,500 (520,000) -187%
51401 Rents and Leases - Equipment 323 1,746 2,151 2,040 2,040 2,192 152 7%
51421 Rents and Leases - Bldg/Land 373 2,679 2,500 2,783 2,783 3,008 225 7%
51801 Other Services 2,036 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51803 Other Contract Services 6,071,239 6,026,176 6,654,907 7,432,095 7,432,095 7,236,076 (196,019) -3%
51805 County Sponsorships 450 0
51901 Telecommunication Data Lines 1,956 1,630 978 2,100 2,100 1,080 (1,020) -94%
51902 Telecommunication Usage 17 57 3 26 26 24 (2) -8%
51903 Telecommunication Installation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51904 ISD - Baseline Services 13,678 21,320 11,483 20,088 20,088 24,334 4,246 17%
51907 ISD - Device Modernization 7,573 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51909 Telecommunication Wireless Svc 0 0 996 0 0 900 900 100%
51911 Mail Services 0 0 20 250 250 250 0 0%
51916 County Services 4,276 17,400 1,182 31,433 31,433 32,347 913 3%
51922 County Car Expense 223 3,848 831 1,020 1,020 484 (536) -111%
52091 Memberships/Certifications 805 12,065 11,925 12,510 12,510 12,570 60 0%
52111 Office Supplies 695 11,593 17 2,000 2,000 2,000 0 0%
52114 Freight/Postage 10,134 0 0 0 0 0 0
52115 Subscriptions (Web) 0 0 3,772 629 629 6,336 5,707 90%
52162 Special Departmental Expense 0 0 0 979 979 1,400 421 30%
52163 Professional Development 0 2,666 5,252 2,500 5,000 4,500 2,000 44%
52191 Utilites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 6,312,528 6,780,639 7,179,429 8,755,436 8,757,936 8,143,937 (611,500) -8%
57011 Transfers Out - Within a Fund 0 0 0 455,756 455,756 0 (455,756) 0%
57015 Transfers Out - All Others 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 455,756 455,756 0 (455,756) 0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 6,312,528 6,780,639 7,179,429 9,211,192 9,213,692 8,143,937 (1,067,256) -13%

NET COST (347,966) (653,926) 105,489 455,756 458,256 (896)

FUND BALANCE FB Goal Difference
Beginning Fund Balance 1,452,606 1,799,299 2,454,498 2,349,008 1,319,613 1,966,359 645,850      
Ending Fund Balance 1,799,299 2,454,498 2,349,008 1,319,613 1,320,509

22



FY 24-25 FINAL BUDGET
ZERO WASTE SONOMA

REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE HISTORY 
Household Hazardous Waste     78104

Actual Actual Actual Budgeted Estimated Reqested %
FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 Difference Change

REVENUES
42358 State Other Funding 133,234 82,563 98,300 186,560 186,560
42360 State Grant Revenue 0 117,472 (69,088) -59%
42601 County of Sonoma 1,785,104 2,036,501 2,388,460 2,644,747 2,644,747 2,781,258 136,511 5%
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash 16,052 9,788 15,113 9,414 9,414 15,100 5,686 38%
44050 Unrealized Gains and Losses (11,949) (32,692) (25,044) 0 0 0 0 0%
46029 Donations/Contributions 161,389 185,416 218,878 221,980 221,980 214,617 (7,364) -3%
46050 Cancelled/Stale Dated Warrants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
46200 Revenue Appl PY Misc Revenue 5,198 18,767 127,057 0 0 0 0 0%
46210 Refunds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 2,089,028 2,300,343 2,822,764 3,062,701 3,062,701 3,128,447 65,746 2%
47101 Transfers In - Within a Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

TOTAL REVENUES 2,089,028 2,300,343 2,822,764 3,062,701 3,062,701 3,128,447 65,746 2%

EXPENDITURES
51041 Insurance - Liability 7,677 2,261 1,984 2,025 2,025 1,916 (109) -6%
51071 Maintenance - Bldg 2,241 2,923 2,348 15,000 5,000 10,000 (5,000) -50%
51201 Administration Services 447,426 263,402 299,866 280,866 280,866 267,118 (13,748) -5%
51205 Advertising/Marketing Svc 8,136 15,051 4,346 17,000 17,000 17,500 500 3%
51206 Accounting/Auditing Services 7,000 2,700 0 2,250 2,250 2,616 366 14%
51207 Client  Accounting Services 12,757 4,052 5,930 4,500 4,500 4,810 310 6%
51212 Outside Counsel - Legal Advice 1,887 3,536 2,339 4,000 4,000 2,000 (2,000) -100%
51214 Agency Extra/Temp Help 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51225 Training Services 533 900 0 1,600 1,600 1,600 0 0%
51229 Hazardous Waste Disposal 27,283 8,567 4,000 30,000 30,000 47,000 17,000 36%
51241 Outside Printing 318
51249 Other Professional Services 115,600 63,367 92,822 176,548 176,548 85,709 (90,839) -106%
51401 Rents and Leases - Equipment 1,856 359 474 450 450 407 (43) -11%
51421 Rents and Leases - Bldg/Land 1,753 3,047 6,206 14,613 14,613 15,559 946 6%
51507 Special Departmental Expense 43,413 117,043 77,025 174,300 174,300 105,000 (69,300) -66%
51801 Other Services 343 0 2,314 0 0 0 0 0%
51803 Other Contract Services 1,239,488 1,239,720 1,206,174 1,535,940 1,535,940 1,612,737 76,797 5%
51901 Telecommunication Data Lines 489 734 978 3,150 3,150 1,032 (2,118) -205%
51902 Telecommunication Usage 8 4 4 156 156 24 (132) -550%
51903 Telecom Installation
51904 ISD - Baseline Services 18,443 8,589 5,583 8,640 8,640 8,046 (594) -7%
51907 ISD - Device Modernization Pro 2,474 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51909 Telecommunication Wireless Svc 1,851 2,746 1,946 2,040 2,040 2,040 0 0%
51911 Mail Services 8 11 13 100 100 100 0 0%
51916 County Services 19,270 7,164 2,795 11,187 11,187 10,274 (913) -9%
51922 County Car Expense 1,278 792 183 225 225 90 (135) -150%
52091 Memberships/Certifications 4,650 4,850 4,850 6,333 6,333 8,833 2,500 28%
52111 Office Supplies 139 1,305 1,083 2,500 2,500 2,500 0 0%
52115 Subscriptions (Web) 0 0 832 139 139 1,177 1,038 88%
52162 Special Departmental Expense 0 0 0 216 216 260 44 17%
52163 Professional Development 658 2,810 5,271 10,900 10,900 13,100 2,200 17%
52191 Utilities 2,575 2,630 2,798 6,132 6,132 2,900 (3,232) -111%

SUBTOTAL 1,969,238 1,758,562 1,732,484 2,310,810 2,300,810 2,224,348 (86,462) -4%
57011 Transfers Out - Within a Fund 0 1,679,427 745,000 1,198,296 1,198,296 903,981 (294,315) -33%
57015 Transfers Out - All Others 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 1,679,427 745,000 1,198,296 1,198,296 903,981 (294,315) -33%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,969,238 3,437,989 2,477,484 3,509,106 3,499,106 3,128,329 (380,777) -12%

NET COST (119,790) 1,137,646 (345,281) 446,405 436,405 (118)

FUND BALANCE FB Goal Difference
Beginning Fund Balance 1,652,088 1,334,976 634,232 634,232 634,462 534,660 (99,920)       
Ending Fund Balance 1,334,976 634,232 979,513 634,462 634,580

23



FY 24-25 FINAL BUDGET
ZERO WASTE SONOMA

REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE HISTORY 
Education and Outreach 78110

Actual Actual Actual Budgeted Estimated Reqested %
FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 Difference Change

REVENUES
42358 State Other Funding 189,847 139,876 680,899 1,347,000 147,000
42360 State Grant Revenue 362,305 1,936,579 589,579 30%
42601 County of Sonoma 518,256 591,242 785,573 869,867 869,867 977,199 107,332 11%
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
44050 Unrealized Gains and Losses (4,313) (13,238) 8,056 0 0 0 0 0%
46029 Donations/Contributions 41,560 48,885 66,461 71,694 71,694 69,433 (2,261) -3%
46050 Cancelled/Stale Dated Warrants 0 144 163 0 0 0 0 0%
46200 Revenue Appl PY Misc Revenue 1,219 0 36,304 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 746,569 766,909 1,939,761 2,288,561 1,088,561 2,983,211 694,650 23%
47101 Transfers In - Within a Fund 0 0 0 0 0 3,981 3,981 0%
48004 Residual Equity Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 3,981 3,981 0%

TOTAL REVENUES 746,569 766,909 1,939,761 2,288,561 1,088,561 2,987,192 698,631 23%

EXPENDITURES
51041 Insurance - Liability 2,617 1,759 2,249 2,295 2,249 2,506 211 8%
51201 Administration Services 388,063 350,203 564,483 560,538 560,538 681,080 120,542 18%
51205 Advertising/Marketing Svc 515 123 97 2,500 2,500 2,500 0 0%
51206 Accounting/Auditing Services 3,500 2,100 0 2,550 2,550 3,420 870 25%
51207 Client  Accounting Services 4,349 3,152 5,232 5,100 5,100 6,290 1,190 19%
51212 Outside Counsel - Legal Advice 17,119 9,087 7,960 15,000 15,000 15,000 0 0%
51214 Agency Extra/Temp Help 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
51225 Training Services 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51241 Outside Printing 0 727 2,335 3,500 30,000 3,500 0 0%
51249 Other Professional Services 150,659 135,549 1,155,626 1,325,427 125,427 1,915,883 590,456 31%
51401 Rents and Leases - Equipment 633 462 538 510 510 532 22 4%
51421 Rents and Leases - Bldg/Land 2,689 709 4,006 4,446 4,446 4,480 34 1%
51801 Other Services 1,000 0 524 0 0 0 0 0%
51803 Other Contract Services 2,785 30,000 37,443 40,000 40,000 35,000 (5,000) -14%
51805 County Sponsorships 0 3,935 4,250 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0%
51901 Telecommunication Data Lines 5,503 5,625 5,380 11,550 11,550 11,550 0 0%
51902 Telecommunication Usage 1,110 1,194 1,192 1,185 1,185 1,185 0 0%
51903 Telecommunication Installation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51904 ISD - Baseline Services 4,357 7,536 18,674 11,772 11,772 16,568 4,796 29%
51905 ISD - Improvement Projects 526 42 405 0 0 0 0 0%
51906 ISD - Supplemental Projects 150 0 0 0 0 400 400 0%
51907 ISD - Device Modernization 2,195 0 2,037 0 1,938 0 0 0%
51909 Telecommunication Wireless Svc 5,854 5,903 6,809 5,700 5,700 6,600 900 14%
51911 Mail Services 1 797 84 500 500 500 0 0%
51912 Records Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51916 County Services 8,065 6,085 2,626 11,695 11,695 11,695 (0) 0%
51922 County Car Expense 436 (6,244) 350 255 255 118 (137) -117%
51923 Unclaimable County Car Expense 7 7 18 50 50 50 0 0%
52091 Memberships/Certifications 5,273 21,805 30,305 33,516 33,516 34,016 500 1%
52111 Office Supplies 1,745 4,193 5,094 15,220 15,220 11,920 (3,300) -28%
52114 Freight/Postage 929 3,037 1,733 15,000 15,000 10,000 (5,000) -50%
52115 Subscriptions (web) 4,920 7,263 943 157 157 1,539 1,382 90%
52118 Printing and Binding Supplies 1,542 5,311 11,228 6,400 6,400 12,400 6,000 48%
52162 Special Departmental Expense 0 750 1,000 168,245 168,245 167,840 (405) 0%
52163 Professional Development 381 6,612 27,128 27,620 27,620 25,620 (2,000) -8%
52191 Utilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 617,173 607,720 1,899,749 2,275,731 1,104,123 2,987,191 711,460 24%
57011 Transfers Out - Within a Fund 0 622,901 0 137,905 0 0 (137,905) 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 622,901 0 137,905 0 0 (137,905) 0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 617,173 1,230,621 1,899,749 1,068,560 1,104,123 2,987,191 1,918,632 64%

NET COST (129,396) 463,712 (40,012) 1,236 15,562 (0)

FUND BALANCE FB Goal Difference
Beginning Fund Balance 577,587 711,026 243,271 243,271 254,865 90,534 (164,331)     
Ending Fund Balance 711,026 243,271 283,283 254,865 254,865

24



FY 24-25 FINAL BUDGET
ZERO WASTE SONOMA

REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE HISTORY 
Organics Reserve   78103

Actual Actual Actual Budgeted Estimated Reqested %
FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 Difference Change

REVENUES
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash 29,306 22,769 68,579 29,289 22,307 29,289 (0) 0%
44050 Unrealized Gains and Losses (13,968) (77,618) (477) 0 0 0 0 0%
46200 Revenue Appl PY Misc Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 15,339 (54,850) 68,102 29,289 22,307 29,289 (0) 0%
47101 Transfers In - Within a Fund 0 0 0 455,756 0 0 (455,756) 0%
48004 Residual Equity Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 455,756 0 0 (455,756) 0%

TOTAL REVENUES 15,339 (54,850) 68,102 485,045 22,307 29,289 (455,756) -1556%

EXPENDITURES
51201 Administration Services 25,395 31,271 0 29,289 29,289 24,318 (4,971) -20%
51206 Accounting/Auditing Services 1,000 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0%
51212 Outside Counsel - Legal Advice 13,181 4,009 0 10,000 5,000 10,000 0 0%
51801 Other Services 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51803 Other Contract Services 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51911 Mail Services 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51916 County Services 116 274 188 379 379 379 0 0%
52111 Office Supplies 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0%
52162 Special Departmental Expense 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
52163 Professional Development 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
53610 Other Charges 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 39,692 36,554 188 41,668 36,668 36,697 (4,971) -14%
57011 Transfers Out - Within a Fund 0 0 0 540,700 0 0 (540,700) 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 582,368 0 0 (582,368) 0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 39,692 36,554 188 624,036 36,668 36,697 (587,339) -1600%

NET COST 24,353 91,403 (67,914) 138,991 14,361 7,409

FUND BALANCE FB Goal Difference
Beginning Fund Balance 2,289,031 2,277,971 2,173,275 2,173,275 1,904,814 1,966,359 68,954   
Ending Fund Balance 2,277,971 2,173,275 2,241,189 1,904,814 1,897,405

25



FY 24-25 FINAL BUDGET
ZERO WASTE SONOMA

REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE HISTORY 
Contingency Reserve 78109

Actual Actual Actual Budgeted Estimated Reqested %
FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 Difference Change

REVENUES
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash 14,882 13,247 52,186 41,565 18,485 48,000 6,435 13%
44050 Unrealized Gains and Losses (11,769) (108,218) 3,876 0 0 0 0%
46029 Donations/Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
46200 Revenue Appl PY Misc Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 3,113 (94,971) 56,062 41,565 18,485 48,000 6,435 13%
47101 Transfers In - Within a Fund 0 1,988,858 0 591,201 0 0 0 0%
48004 Residual Equity Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 1,988,858 0 591,201 0 0 (591,201) 0%

TOTAL REVENUES 3,113 1,893,887 56,062 632,766 18,485 48,000 (584,766) -1218%

EXPENDITURES
51201 Administration Services 43,133 53,736 9,571 106,051 106,051 201,407 95,356 47%
51205 Advertising/Marketing Svc 0 0 0 0 0 0%
51206 Accounting/Auditing Services 1,300 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0%
51212 Outside Counsel - Legal Advice 1,603 0 8,480 20,000 5,000 20,000 0 0%
51249 Other Professional Services 0 0 0 0 0%
51801 Other Services 0 7,265 6,896 0 0 0%
51803 Other Contract Services 24,745 38,303 73,354 125,000 100,000 45,000 (80,000) -178%
51905 ISD - Improvement Projects 1,680
51915 ISD - Reprographics Services 0
51916 County Services 558 274 413 217 217 217 0 0%
52111 Office Supplies 0 0 8,482 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0%
52162 Special Departmental Expense 7,281 133,319 25,362 40,000 40,000 56,000 16,000 29%
52163 Professional Development 0 0 0 0%
53402 Depreciation Expense 8,692 8,692 5,167

SUBTOTAL 87,311 242,589 139,406 293,268 253,268 324,624 31,356 10%
57011 Transfers Out - Within a Fund 0 496,530 0 0 0 0 0
57015 Transfers Out - All Others 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 496,530 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 87,311 739,119 139,406 293,268 253,268 324,624 31,356 10%

NET COST 84,197 (1,154,769) 83,344 270,831 234,783 276,624

FUND BALANCE FB Goal Difference
Beginning Fund Balance 1,936,993 1,886,552 3,030,115 3,030,115 1,019,398 927,127 184,353    
Ending Fund Balance 1,886,552 3,030,115 2,946,771 1,019,398 742,774

26



FY 24-25 FINAL BUDGET
ZERO WASTE SONOMA

REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE HISTORY 
Unfunded Pension Liablility Reserve 78112

Actual Actual Actual Budgeted Estimated Reqested %
FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 Difference Change

REVENUES
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash 5,154 3,838 11,353 9,838 6,586 16,000 6,162 39%
44050 Unrealized Gains and Losses (4,041) (23,108) (29) 0 0 0 0 0%
46029 Donations/Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
46200 Revenue Appl PY Misc Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 1,114 (19,271) 11,324 9,838 6,586 16,000 6,162 39%
47101 Transfers In - Within a Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
48004 Residual Equity Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

TOTAL REVENUES 1,114 (19,271) 11,324 9,838 6,586 16,000 6,162 39%

EXPENDITURES
51206 Accounting/Auditing Services 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 1,000 1,000 1,000
57011 Transfers Out - Within a Fund

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0%

NET COST (1,114) 19,271 (11,324) (8,838) (5,586) (15,000) (6,162)

FUND BALANCE
Beginning Fund Balance 668,512 673,467 650,355 650,355 655,941
Ending Fund Balance 673,467 650,355 661,679 655,941 670,941

27



FY 24-25 FINAL BUDGET
ZERO WASTE SONOMA

REVENUE, EXPENDITURE, AND FUND BALANCE HISTORY 
Debt Services Reserve 78113

Actual Actual Actual Budgeted Estimated Reqested %
FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 Difference Change

REVENUES
44002 Interest on Pooled Cash 0 921 12,562 0 0 0 0 0%
44050 Unrealized Gains and Losses 0 (14,962) (10,878) 0 0 0 0 0%
46029 Donations/Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%
46200 Revenue Appl PY Misc Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 (14,041) 1,684 0 0 0 0 0%
47101 Transfers In - Within a Fund 0 745,000 745,000 745,000 745,000 900,000 155,000 17%
48004 Residual Equity Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 745,000 745,000 745,000 745,000 900,000 155,000 0%

TOTAL REVENUES 0 730,959 746,684 745,000 745,000 900,000 155,000 17%

EXPENDITURES
51206 Accounting/Auditing Services 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0%

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0
57011 Transfers Out - Within a Fund

SUBTOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0%

NET COST 0 (730,959) (746,684) (744,000) (744,000) (899,000) (155,000)

FUND BALANCE
Beginning Fund Balance 730,959 730,959 719,959
Ending Fund Balance 730,959 1,477,643 719,959 1,618,959

28



Resolution No.: 2024-06 

Dated: February 15, 2024 

RESOLUTION OF THE SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY, ALSO KNOW 
AS ZERO WASTE SONOMA (“ZWS”), ADOPTING AN ANNUAL BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-25. 

WHEREAS, ZWS Board of Directors gave direction to ZWS’s Executive Director to 
prepare and present an annual budget; and 

WHEREAS, an annual budget has been prepared and presented to ZWS Board of 
Directors; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the ZWS’s Annual Budget for the period 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025, attached hereto as FY 24-25 ZWS Final Budget is hereby adopted. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Clerk shall deliver a certified copy of this 
resolution to the Sonoma County Auditor-Controller. 

MEMBERS: 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Cloverdale Cotati County Healdsburg Petaluma 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Rohnert Park Santa Rosa Sebastopol Sonoma Windsor 

AYES: -  - NOES: - - ABSENT: -  - ABSTAIN: -  - 

SO ORDERED 

The within instrument is a correct copy 
of the original on file with this office. 

ATTEST:   DATE:  February 15, 2024 

_________________________________________ 
Clerk of Zero Waste Sonoma of the State of California 
in and for the County of Sonoma 

29



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California 95403 | Phone: 707.565.3579 | www.zerowastesonoma.gov  

Agenda Item #: 7 
Cost Center:   HHW 
Staff Contact:  Scott 
Agenda Date:  2/15/2024 
Approved By:  LL 

ITEM:  Discussion and Possible Action for Sponsorship of Marine Flare Producer 
Responsibility Senate Bill 1066 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Board approve Zero Waste Sonoma’s (ZWS) co-sponsorship of California
Senator Blakespear’s SB 1066 Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act and direct the Executive
Director and staff to execute a co-sponsorship letter and prepare any necessary documents or
correspondence in connection with ZWS’s sponsorship of the proposed legislation.

II. BACKGROUND

Federal law requires recreational boats to carry U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) approved visual distress
signals in case of emergencies to help pinpoint the boater’s exact location. Pyrotechnic marine flares
have historically been what boaters use to meet this requirement, but they contain toxic metals and
pollutants that render them hazardous reactive and explosive waste at end-of-life (EOL). If utilizing
flares to comply with the law, the boat must be equipped with three in-service flares approved for
daytime and nighttime use. According to USCG regulations, the average shelf life for flares is
between 36 and 42 months from the manufacture date, requiring boaters to replace them
approximately every three years.

The California State Parks Division of Boating and Waterways estimates 174,000 outdated flares are
generated each year by recreational vessels in California. However, a lack of disposal options has
created a significant EOL management problem. Like most household hazardous waste (HHW)
facilities in the state, ZWS does not accept marine flares or other explosive material due to safety,
cost, and a lack of explosive-proof equipment and permitting. Staff is unaware of any location in
Sonoma County that will accept unwanted marine flares for disposal.

ZWS contracts with Clean Harbors Environmental Service for HHW operations and disposal. Despite
their best efforts, marine flares occasionally end up at the HHW facility. In September 2023, ZWS
shipped two 5-gallon buckets of marine flares through Clean Harbors for $11,115.50, or
approximately $185.00 per flare. New flares can be purchased for as low as $13.00 per flare.
Explosives are the most expensive HHW items to dispose of due to the liability, training, and
equipment required for shipment. Disposal facilities for the aerial marine flares are located in
Louisiana and Missouri, while a facility in Utah will accept the less explosive flares.

30

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California 95403 | Phone: 707.565.3579 | www.zerowastesonoma.gov  

III. DISCUSSION

California Senator Catherine Blakespear (D-San Diego & Orange Counties) has partnered with the
National Stewardship Action Council (NSAC) to introduce the Marine Flare Producer Responsibility
Act (Senate Bill number pending). The bill will establish a producer responsibility program for
pyrotechnic marine flares, a first of its kind in the United States. The Senator’s office has invited
Zero Waste Sonoma to become a co-sponsor of the bill to provide technical assistance and
testimony to the challenging disposal process. Zero Waste Sonoma was chosen for this opportunity
because the agency is seen as leaders of change, Sonoma County has 76 miles of coastline, and the
balance of a northern California and southern California partnership demonstrates the statewide
need for solutions.

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) is a longstanding core value of Zero Waste Sonoma. EPR is a
strategy to place responsibility for the end-of-life product management on the producers instead of
local government and the general public. It also encourages product redesign that minimizes the
negative impacts on human health and the environment throughout the product’s lifecycle. In 2001,
ZWS unanimously passed an EPR resolution in support of EPR policies and in 2008 to 2010, each
individual jurisdiction passed their own resolutions in support of EPR with varying language.
Similarly, the Zero Waste Resolution has been passed by 9 of the 10-member jurisdictions and
contains language supporting EPR.

If ZWS becomes an official co-sponsor of the bill, staff can testify during committee hearings, meet
with legislative and officials/staff, and advocate for the legislation. If approved by the ZWS Board of
Directors, the ZWS Executive Director will submit a co-sponsor letter to Senator Blakespear’s office
for the proposed legislation.

IV. FUNDING IMPACT

Currently, staff time and legal counsel are the only fiscal impact. Staff may travel to Sacramento
during committee hearings during business hours. In the long term, EPR will save the HHW program
in occasional marine flare disposal costs, currently around $185.00/flare.

V. ATTACHMENTS

1. Request to Cosponsor Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act
2. Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act Fact Sheet
3. SB 1066 Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act Draft Language
4. NSAC Presentation

31

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


ZERO WASTE SONOMA | 2300 COUNTY CENTER DR,  STE  B100 SANTA ROSA,  CA 95403 |  707.565.3579 |  ZEROWASTESONOMA.GOV  

February 15, 2024 

The Honorable Catherine Blakespear 
1021 O Street, Suite 7340 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

Subject:  SB 1066 (Blakespear): Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act  – CO-SPONSOR 

Dear Senator Blakespear, 

Zero Waste Sonoma is a joint powers authority (JPA) that serves and helps the residents and businesses in the 
unincorporated area and nine cities and towns in Sonoma County to reduce, reuse, recycle, and discard all 
materials in the safest and most environmentally responsible way possible. Our mission is to is to empower 
personal action in waste reduction and materials management by implementing practical solutions to protect our 
natural resources. Zero Waste Sonoma is a proud partner of the National Stewardship Action Council (NSAC) 
which advocates for a circular and equitable economy.  Zero Waste Sonoma is proud to co-sponsor SB 1066 
with NSAC, which will require producers of marine flares to fund and operate a convenient collection system to 
manage expired or unwanted flares, shifting the costs of managing this product from our cities and counties – and 
ultimately local ratepayers – to the producers/users. 

Managing household hazardous waste (HHW) is one of the core responsibilities of Zero Waste Sonoma, which has 
one of the most comprehensive HHW programs in the country. Sonoma County is also home to 76 miles of 
coastline and has a large recreational boater population. Despite these facts, there are no disposal options in 
Sonoma County for expired marine flares. The HHW programs are not equipped to safely handle explosives. When 
marine flares inevitably make their way to our facility, they cost approximately $185 per flare for disposal. 
Governments and rate payers should not have to carry this weight.  

In 2022, the California Commission on Recycling Markets and Curbside Recycling, chaired by NSAC Executive 
Director Heidi Sanborn, unanimously recommended that the Legislature “establish Extended Producer 
Responsibility programs for [specified] product categories [to] reduce known fire and operational hazards,” which 
included projectile or explosive marine flares. 

For these reasons, we are proud to co-sponsor SB 1066. Thank you for authoring this critical measure. 

Sincerely, 

Leslie Lukacs 
Executive Director 
Zero Waste Sonoma 

32

https://calrecycle.ca.gov/markets/commission/


Office of Senator Blakespear 

SB 1066 Factsheet | Updated 2.9.2024 

SB 1066 | Marine Flare Producer 

Responsibility Act 

PURPOSE 

SB 1066 will require producers of marine 

flares, as defined, to fund and operate a 

convenient collection system to manage 

expired or unwanted flares, shifting the 

costs of managing this product from our 

cities and counties – and ultimately local 

ratepayers – to the producers and users. 

BACKGROUND 

Subject to the federal law are 

recreational boats operating in U.S. 

Coastal Waters or the Great Lakes, or 

bodies of water directly connected to 

U.S. Coastal Waters or the Great Lakes, 

up to a point where those waters are less 

than 2 miles wide, with exceptions. 

Failure to comply with these 

requirements could result in a $1,100 fine 

(33 CFR 175.125).  

If utilizing flares to comply with the law, 

the boat must be equipped with three in-

service flares approved for daytime and 

nighttime use. According to the U.S. 

Coast Guard (USCG) regulations, the 

average shelf life for flares is between 36 

and 42 months from the manufacture 

date, requiring boaters to replace them 

approximately every three years.  

According to the CA Department of 

Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) and the 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), 

flares that will no longer be used for their 

intended purpose are classified as 

hazardous waste, due to their being 

toxic, reactive, and ignitable. Flares must 

be transported as explosives then 

disposed of at a facility permitted to 

manage explosives, making their end-of-

life (EOL) management extremely costly. 

The excessive cost of disposal has 

resulted in many household hazardous 

waste (HWW) facilities refusing to accept 

flares, leaving boaters with no options for 

disposal.  

PROBLEM 

Pyrotechnic marine flares have 

historically been what boaters use to 

meet the Federal requirement to carry 

U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) approved 

visual distress signals in case of 

emergencies. However, these flares 

contain toxic metals and pollutants that 

render them hazardous, reactive and 

explosive waste at EOL. 

According to the California State Parks 

Division of Boating and Waterways, an 

estimated 174,000 outdated flares are 

generated each year by recreational 

vessels in the state. However, a lack of 

convenient disposal options has created 

a significant EOL management problem, 

with many HWW facilities unable to 

accept them due to their not having the 

permits or proper equipment to safely 

handle explosives and the exorbitant 

costs to properly manage them. 

Currently, there are no permitted 

facilities in California that can accept, 

treat, and/or dispose of non-military 

explosives waste streams. Collected 

flares must be packaged properly, 

transported by a licensed hazardous 

waste authorized driver, and stored in a 

33

https://dbw.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=31166#:~:text=According%20to%20USCG%20regulations%2C%20the%20average%20shelf%20life%20for%20pyrotechnic%20flares%20is%20between%2036%20and%2042%20months%20from%20the%20manufacture%20date%20because%20the%20effectiveness%20of%20the%20chemicals%20can%20break%20down%20over%20time.
file:///C:/Users/rodriaub/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/VDAEE6CN/The%20California%20Department%20of%20Toxic%20Substances%20Control%20(DTSC)%20and%20the%20Environmental%20Protection%20Agency%20(EPA)%20classifies%20pyrotechnic%20flares%20that%20will%20no%20longer%20be%20used%20for%20their%20intended%20purpose%20as%20hazardous%20waste,%20as%20they%20are%20toxic,%20reactive,%20and%20ignitable%20as%20defined%20by%20state%20and%20federal%20hazardous%20waste%20regulations.
https://dbw.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=31166#:~:text=An%20estimated%20174%2C000%20outdated%20flares%20are%20generated%20each%20year%20by%20recreational%20vessels%20in%20California.


Office of Senator Blakespear 

SB 1066 Factsheet | Updated 2.9.2024 

Class 4 magazine prior to shipment 

according to the Bureau of Alcohol, 

Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives. It then 

must be shipped out-of-state to Missouri, 

where the only facility still accepting 

high-hazard flares in the U.S. is located.   

According to Zero Waste Sonoma, in 

2023 it cost an estimated $185 to properly 

dispose of one unwanted marine flare, 

when partnering with nearby jurisdictions 

to help share the cost of transportation. 

Without partnership, that cost will 

increase to an estimated $493 per flare. 

The same flares can be purchased new 

for approximately $13 each.  

Boaters in coastal communities across 

California are frustrated due to the lack 

of disposal options for flares, with some 

stockpiling them or illegally disposing of 

them in trash or waterways. Flares 

contain toxic chemicals such as 

perchlorate, which is recognized as a 

water and health pollutant that can 

impact our waterways and impair 

thyroid function. 

SOLUTION 

SB 1066 will require producers to utilize an 

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) 

program, which will establish a free and 

convenient statewide collection program 

for the proper disposal of marine flares.   

Since 2015, boaters have had the option 

to switch to electronic visual distress 

signaling devices (eVDSDs), which are 

approved by the USCG as an alternative 

and do not release toxic chemicals when 

used, do not expire, and save boaters 

and taxpayers money.  

SUPPORT 

National Stewardship Action Council (Co-Sponsor) 

STAFF CONTACT 
Aubrey Rodríguez | Legislative Director 

Office of Senator Catherine Blakespear 

Aubrey.Rodriguez@sen.ca.gov | 916-651-4038 

34

mailto:Aubrey.Rodriguez@sen.ca.gov


35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

NSAC'S VISION: The United States attains an equitable, circular economy.

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Pyrotechnic Marine Flare 
Extended Producer Responsibility

Zero Waste Sonoma Meeting
February 15, 2024

52



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Thank You to Our Sponsors!

53



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Who is NSAC & SAF?

The National Stewardship Action Council (NSAC) is 
a 501(c)4 non-profit organization. NSAC is a network 
of committed proponents comprised of governments, 

non-government organizations, businesses, & 
consumers who advocate that producers fairly share 

responsibility in an equitable, circular economy.

Vision: The U.S. attains an 
equitable, Circular Economy. 

Affiliated 501(c)3 for education &  
outreach initiatives that aligns with 

NSAC’s advocacy work

Staff Jordan Wells, Heidi Sanborn, & 
Victoria Reiser

54



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

What is a Circular Economy?

It is based on three principles:

1. Design out waste & pollution
2. Keep products & materials in use
3. Regenerate natural systems

Decouples economic activity 
from the consumption of 

finite resources.

55



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

The bathtub is overflowing, what do you do 
FIRST?!

Second?

56



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Policy Options
1. Sales Ban
2. Truth in Labeling
3. Product Stewardship
4. Extended Producer Responsibility

Questions to Ask:  
1) How toxic is it?
2) Are there safer alternatives on the market, or coming?
3) What have other states or countries done with the product/chemical?
4) Is the international community limiting shipping/disposal?
5) How is the state determining the product to be hazardous?  Is that causing problems?

57



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

1. Ag Pesticide Containers (2008) – EPR
2. Recalled Products (2008) –EPR
3. Mercury Thermostats (2008) – EPR
4. Paint (2010)
5. Carpet (2010)
6. Mattresses  (2013)
7. Medications & Sharps (2018) – EPR
8. Loose batteries (2022) – EPR
9. Packaging (2022) – Circular Economy
10.Mercury lighting (2022) - BAN

Policies That Support Circular Economy: 
Bans/EPR/Stewardship in CA

58



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

NSAC: A Track Record of Success in CA
2024: 
1. SB 1066 (Blakespear): Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act
2. AB 863 (Aguiar-Curry & Dodd): Flooring
2022:
1. Negotiating SB 43 (Allen) : Plastic Pollution Prevention and Packaging Producer Responsibility

Act (EPR)
2. AB 2208 (Kalra) : Mercury Lamp Pollution Prevention Act
3. AB 1894 (L. Rivas): Truth in Marketing & Advertising for  Cannabis Vaping Devices - 1st in the

nation
4. AB 1793 (Quirk): Aquatic Toxicity Testing
2021:
5. SB 343 (Allen): Truth in Recycling Labeling - 1st in the nation
6. AB 818 (Bloom): Truth in “Flushable” Wipes Labeling
7. AB 707 (Quirk): Mercury Thermostat EPR Program Update
2019:
8. SB 726 (Caballero): HHW Reuse & Exchange
9. AB 729 (Chu): Carpet Program Reform #2
2018:
10. SB 212 (Jackson, Ting, Gray): Medication & Needle EPR - 1st in the nation
2017: AB 1158 (Chu): Carpet Program Reform #1

59



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

EPR Best Practices
 Tiered definition of producer
 501(c)3 for robust transparency
 Recycling rates and dates
 Source reduction targets when applicable
 Convenience standards
 Eco-modulation
 Incentives (bounty)
 Require quick or immediate local government reimbursement
 Strong enforcement mechanisms – ability to revoke PRO
 Enforcement – must have the right agency!
 Require stakeholder input
 Protect existing infrastructure
 Public education and outreach requirements
 No preemption
 Labeling!!!

60



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

EPR: Marine Flare Disposal Distress
 Vessels longer than 16 feet operating on coastal waters, the Great Lakes, territorial seas,

and waters directly connected to them (up to the point where the body of water is less
than two miles wide) must carry 3 pyrotechnic flares if approved for day & night use, or
an US Coast Guard approved alternative

 Pyrotechnic marine flares expire 36 - 42 months from manufacture date
 Contain toxic metals and pollutants such as perchlorate
 ~174,000 outdated flares are generated in CA annually - little to no disposal options

due to cost & permits! Only disposal facility for high hazard flares is in Missouri!
 Zero Waste Sonoma disposal costs: ~$185/flare (when partnering with jurisdictions on

transportation & disposal). Will be ~$493/flare w/out partnership
 Can be purchased new for ~$13!

61



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

SB 1066 by Senator Blakespear
Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Act

 Would require the producers to fund 
and implement a convenient take-back 
program for unwanted flares

 Introduced 2/9/2024
 Oversight Agency: DTSC
 Regulations to be adopted by 1/1/2027
 Five-year stewardship plans & 

budgets
 Annual reporting
 Enforcement: Penalties up to 

$50K/per day

 Inviting co-sponsorship

SB 1066

#YESONSB1066



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Heidi Sanborn
Executive Director

Cell: (916) 217-1109
Heidi@nsaction.us 

www.nsaction.us
Join & 

Follow Us!
www.stewardship-foundation.org 

63

mailto:Heidi@nsaction.us
https://www.linkedin.com/company/national-stewardship-action-council
https://www.facebook.com/nationalstewardshipactioncouncil/


2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California 95403 | Phone: 707.565.3579 | www.zerowastesonoma.gov  

Agenda Item #: 8 
Cost Center: HHW 
Staff Contact:  Scott 
Agenda Date:  2/15/2024 
Approved By:  LL 

ITEM:  Discussion and Possible Action for an HHW EPR Model Ordinance 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Board provide direction and authorization for staff to explore the possibility
of developing a model ordinance for extended producer responsibility (EPR) of household hazardous
waste (HHW).

II. BACKGROUND

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) is a longstanding core value of Zero Waste Sonoma (ZWS).
EPR is a strategy to place responsibility for the end-of-life product management on the producers
instead of local government and the general public. It also encourages product redesign that
minimizes the negative impacts on human health and the environment throughout the product’s
lifecycle. Product stewardship is a similar concept though costs are often passed onto the consumer
through a fee or a deposit. In 2001, ZWS unanimously passed an EPR resolution in support of EPR
policies and in 2008 to 2010, each individual jurisdiction passed their own resolutions in support of
EPR with varying language. Similarly, the Zero Waste Resolution has been passed by 9 of the 10-
member jurisdictions and contains language supporting EPR.

There are several existing EPR and product stewardship programs in California including paint,
carpet, mattresses, pharmaceuticals & sharps, motor oil, thermostats, certain types of e-waste,
tires, beverage containers, and most recently, packaging and batteries.

In 2023, the state of Vermont passed the first HHW EPR law in the country requiring manufacturers
to fund the existing collection system and provide public education. The law is expected to be
implemented in 2026 with the state Agency of Natural Resources providing oversite and ensuring
compliance.

In Fiscal Year 2022-2023, ZWS collected 1,208,215 pounds of HHW and spent approximately
$1,211,419.75 in HHW contracted labor, transportation, and disposal costs. Additionally, ZWS
collected 959,445 pounds of e-waste at the five transfer stations and spent $93,852.60 on e-waste
contracted labor, transportation, and recycling costs.

III. DISCUSSION

Past EPR efforts such as pharmaceuticals and batteries started with local jurisdictions who led the
way for statewide programs. Similarly, product stewardship and EPR efforts have historically
focused on one waste type at a time but implementing a full HHW EPR program would be a faster
approach to covering costs for ZWS and ratepayers. If a statewide bill is introduced in 2024, a local
ordinance would support the need at the state level.

64

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California 95403 | Phone: 707.565.3579 | www.zerowastesonoma.gov  

The timing of developing and implementing a model ordinance would also align with the timing of 
opening the new north-county HHW facility.  

The National Stewardship Action Council (NSAC), a non-profit that advocates for an equitable and 
circular economy and also consults with state and local governments, has offered to guide ZWS 
through the ordinance creation process. ZWS currently pays $2,500 in annual dues to NSAC. 

If the Board approves the development of an HHW EPR ordinance, ZWS could be required to 
perform the following tasks: 

1. Create model ordinance language and bring ordinance to each jurisdiction for adoption.
2. Determine a continual list of covered producers and products.
3. Manage the stewardship organization.
4. Ensure compliance for producers and products.
5. Other tasks as determined at a later time.

These tasks and responsibilities could change if a statewide bill is successful. 

If the Board decides not to pursue a local model ordinance, staff will continue to advocate for a 
statewide program. 

IV. FUNDING IMPACT

Currently, staff time, consultants, and legal counsel are the only fiscal impact. Staff time has been
accounted for in the FY 24-25 Work Plan and Budget. In the short term, staff expects the need for at
least one additional full-time staff to develop and implement the program after adoption. In the
long term, EPR would save the HHW program in annual disposal and recycling costs, currently
around $587,000/year for HHW alone. ZWS would provide ordinance oversight and funding should
be included in the ordinance to be reimbursed by the stewardship organization.

V. ATTACHMENTS

1. National Stewardship Action Council Presentation
2. Vermont Agency of Natural Resources HHW EPR Fact Sheet

65

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

NSAC'S VISION: The United States attains an equitable, circular economy.

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Household Hazardous Waste 
Extended Producer Responsibility

Zero Waste Sonoma Meeting
February 15, 2024

66



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

DTSC 2023 Hazardous Waste Management Report 
 Top three destination states shipped

to have been Utah, Arizona, and
Nevada.

 The distance between generators
and destination facilities ranged 1 to
2,500 mi, average 500 mi.

 58% of California’s permitted
hazardous waste management
facilities (43 of 74) are located
within disadvantaged communities.

 According to the Report, DTSC is
not currently resourced to
implement a waste reduction
program.

67



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

CA HHW Disposition for 2020-2021
 3% of statewide HHW in Sonoma County
 Sonoma County population: <1.5% of CA population

68



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

California Commission on Recycling Markets & 
Curbside Recycling

• 16-person commission comprised of representatives of public agencies,
private solid waste enterprises, and environmental organizations that have
expertise in recycling - unanimous consensus required!

• 34 recommendations
• Recommendation #1: Extending Producer Responsibilities Framework

for Household Hazardous Waste (HHW)

69



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Governments Can Implement EPR! 
Alameda County: 1st EPR Ordinance in the U.S.

• 7/24/2012:  Adopts first EPR
ordinance for meds in U.S.

• 12/29/14: PhRMA & other
plaintiff organizations file a
Petition For Writ of Certiorari
asking the U.S. Supreme Court
to consider the case – Petition
text

• 5/26/15: Denied!  National
Impact!

• EPR in U.S. allowed so long as
the product has a public health
and safety nexus.

70

http://calpsc.org/mobius/cpsc-content/uploads/2015/01/PhRMA-v.-Alameda_US-Supreme-Court_PetitionWritCertiorari_Brief1.pdf
http://calpsc.org/mobius/cpsc-content/uploads/2015/01/PhRMA-v.-Alameda_US-Supreme-Court_PetitionWritCertiorari_Brief1.pdf


NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Medication EPR Ordinances = National Impact!

1. Alameda County: Adopted 7/24/2012
2. City & County of San Francisco: Adopted 3/17/2015
3. San Mateo County: Adopted 4/28/2015
4. Santa Clara County: Adopted 5/19/2015
5. Marin County: Adopted 8/11/2015
6. Santa Cruz County: Adopted 12/8/2015 (meds/sharps)
7. City of Santa Cruz: Adopted 8/9/2016 (meds/sharps)
8. City of Capitola: Adopted 8/25/2016 (meds/sharps)
9. Contra Costa County: Adopted 12/20/2016
10. Santa Barbara County: Adopted 6/21/2016
11. City of Watsonville: Adopted 3/16/2017
12. San Luis Obispo County: Adopted 1/10/18 (med/sharps)
13. Tehama County: passed 7/3/2018 (after SB 212 pre-emption date of 4/18/2018)

In Progress When Passed:
14. Los Angeles County
15. Sonoma County

Heidi Sanborn testifying in support of the LA 
County Medication & Needle EPR Ordinance

71



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

In the Trenches: Getting EPR Done  
Medications & Needles
1. 2013: SB 727 (Jackson) – Failed to pass
2. 2014: SB 1014 (Jackson) – Failed to pass
3. 2015: SB 1229 (Jackson) – signed into law 8/29/2016!

• Protects medication bin “collectors” from liability for civil damages or subject to
criminal prosecution for maintaining a secure drug take-back bin on its premises .

3. 2017: SB 212 (Jackson) – signed into law 9/18/2018!
• Requires PRO to be 501(c)3.
• Strong enforcement - $50K/day fines.
• Convenience requirements – 1 site per 50,000K people in the county, minimum of 5

per county.
• Pre-emption: 4/18/2018

72



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

H.67 (Dolan-2023)/Act 58 of 2023:

• ~647K residents
• Required to form ONE Producer Responsibility Organization (PRO) for the first

collection plan (up to 5 years)
• After the first collection plan (up to 5 years), multiple PROs may register with the

Agency of Natural Resources (ANR) but must collaborate to submit ONE Plan.
• Plan must include public education regarding collection program locations and

any special handling considerations, as well as information on source
reduction.

• Empty product containers are not required to be collected by collection sites,
except covered gas cylinders.

• All municipal HHW collection programs may opt to be a part of the collection
plan. Reimbursement funding around 2027 for costs incurred since
implementation.

• If Muni’s opt to participate, they will need to accept all covered products from
any VT. household and Very SQGs with no limits for region boundaries.

73

https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/status/2024/H.67


NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Vermont HHW EPR: Timeline

• 1/1/2025: PRO to register with ANR & the Secretary shall approve one.

• 7/1/2025: First stewardship plan due covering 5 years.

• 6-months After Plan Approval (DATE TBD):
• PROs must implement the Plan (potentially 3/1/2026, assuming

plan approval is complete by 10/1/2025).
• Manufacturers cannot sell covered products into Vermont

unless they are participating in the approved Plan.

• 18-months After Plan Implemented (DATE TBD): PRO(s) submits the
annual report to ANR 18 months after Plan implementation (potentially
9/1/2027) & annually thereafter.

74



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Vermont HHW EPR: Covered Products
Consumer products offered for retail sale in VT if the product, or a component of it, is 
defined as hazardous waste under VT Hazardous Waste Management Regulations 
(subchapter 2) regardless of the generator. Must be contained in its original receptable. 

75

https://dec.vermont.gov/sites/dec/files/wmp/HazWaste/Documents/VHWMR%20Effective%20Feb%2001%2C%202022%20Subchapter%202.pdf
https://dec.vermont.gov/sites/dec/files/wmp/HazWaste/Documents/VHWMR%20Effective%20Feb%2001%2C%202022%20Subchapter%202.pdf


NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Vermont HHW EPR: Exempted Products

76



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Possible Next Steps

• Need approval by ZWS Board to proceed with drafting
an HHW EPR ordinance

• Ordinance would be drafted and submitted to ZWS
Staff for review and edits

• Ordinance would be introduced for public hearing and
input

• Watch State Legislation – similar bill could be
introduced in 2024.  Ordinance would be supportive to
push for state action and could be drafted to only
become effective if the state fails to pass HHW EPR in
2024.

77



NATIONAL STEWARDSHIP ACTION 
COUNCIL

© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024© copyright National Stewardship Action Council, 2024

Heidi Sanborn
Executive Director

Cell: (916) 217-1109
Heidi@nsaction.us 

www.nsaction.us
Join & 

Follow Us!
www.stewardship-foundation.org 

78

mailto:Heidi@nsaction.us
https://www.linkedin.com/company/national-stewardship-action-council
https://www.facebook.com/nationalstewardshipactioncouncil/


Vermont Department of Environmental Conservation 
Waste Management & Prevention Division, Solid Waste Management Program 
One National Life Drive, Davis 1, Montpelier, VT 05620-3704 
[phone] 802-828-1138  [web] VTrecycles.com 

To preserve, enhance, restore, and conserve Vermont's natural resources, and protect human health, for the benefit of this and future generations. 

DATE: April 27, 2023 

Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) Collection in Vermont 

What is HHW? 

Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) is the most toxic part of the solid waste stream and would be considered 
federally regulated Hazardous Waste when the waste is produced by non-residential waste generators such as 
a business, school, or institution. If released it can harm water quality and plant, animal, and human health. 

HHW includes common waste products labeled “caution, toxic, danger, hazard, warning, poisonous, reactive, 
corrosive, or flammable” such as:   

• Aerosols

• Automotive additives

• Flammable degreasers

• Flammable lubricants

• Flammable liquid
adhesives

• Furniture strippers

• Glues and adhesives

• Grout/Masonry cleaners

• Hazardous cleaners

• Hobby and craft
supplies

• Kerosene

• Lighter fluid

• Mineral Spirits

• Paint thinners

• Paint and varnish
remover

• Pesticides

• Pool and hot tub
chemicals

• Rust remover

• Tar and bug remover

• Turpentine

HHW Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) 

In 2022 H115 and now H.67 have been introduced to create a safe collection program for HHW funded by 
HHW product producers—commonly called an extended producer responsibility (EPR) program. The following 
20 producers are estimated to produce about 60% of Vermont’s HHW1: 

1. RPM International Inc
2. The Sherwin-Williams
Company
3. Reckitt Benckiser Group plc.
4. S.C. Johnson & Son, Inc.
5. The Clorox Company
6. W. M. Barr

1 According to a 2019 Product Stewardship Institute report contracted for by ANR-DEC 

7. 3M
8. Henry Company
9. Zep Inc.
10. BISSELL Homecare, Inc.
11. Weiman Products, LLC
12. Turtle Wax, Inc.
13. Colgate-Palmolive Company

14. Spectrum Brands
15. Dap Products Inc.
16. Church & Dwight Co., Inc.
17. Rug Doctor LLC
18. Miracle Sealants Company
19. Sopus Products
20. Arch Chemicals, Inc.

79

https://dec.vermont.gov/waste-management/solid
https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/status/2022/H.115
https://legislature.vermont.gov/bill/status/2024/H.67
https://dec.vermont.gov/sites/dec/files/wmp/SolidWaste/Documents/Universal-Recycling/2019_PSI-VT-DEC-HHW_EPR%20_Research_Report.pdf


Vermont Department of Environmental Conservation 
Waste Management & Prevention Division, Solid Waste Management Program 
One National Life Drive, Davis 1, Montpelier, VT 05620-3704 
[phone] 802-828-1138  [web] VTrecycles.com 

To preserve, enhance, restore, and conserve Vermont's natural resources, and protect human health, for the benefit of this and future generations. 

Increasing Costs 

For more than 30 years, Vermont municipalities have been required by law to collect HHW, however costs for 
one day collection events have increased as much as 50%. Some towns are spending $100-$400 per carload 
and an average of $2.2 million per year (according to DEC’s survey data) to protect human health and the 
environment (see Figure 1. below for example data on rising costs). 

A shrinking pool of service providers coupled with both labor and supply chain shortages have forced solid 
waste management entities to spend more, or charge users more, to continue to provide these vital services. 
Charging customers more for doing the ‘right thing’ can lead residents and businesses to dump harmful waste 
in their trash or worse, illegal dumping. This threatens the health and safety of solid waste haulers and facility 
operators, contaminates landfill leachate, and can harm the environment.  

Figure 1. Londonderry Solid Waste Group HHW Costs 

80

https://dec.vermont.gov/waste-management/solid


What do EPR Programs do? 

Vermont’s five (5) existing producer 
responsibility programs provide free and 
convenient collection, recycling, and safe 
management of dangerous and difficult to 
recycle materials including: mercury bulbs, 
mercury thermostats, electronic devices (TVs, 
computers, printers), paint, and batteries. These 
programs successfully reduce municipal costs 
and result in some of the highest collection rates 
in the country. 

For example, as the only state with a primary 
battery producer responsibility program, 
Vermont recycles more batteries per-capita than 
any other state (see Figure 2.). 

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Batteries Collected (lbs)

Primary Rechargeable

Figure 2. Battery Producer Responsibility 

81


	Agenda
	February 15, 2024 Agenda Notes
	Item 4.1: Minutes of the January 18, 2024 Meeting
	Item 4.2: Outreach Calendar January, February, March 2024
	Item 5: Public Hearing for the Consideration of Organics Disposal Fee andAgency Surcharge Fee Increases
	Item 6: Approval of the Fiscal Year 2023-24 Final Budget
	Item 7: Discussion and Possible Action for Sponsorship of Marine Flare Producer Responsibility Senate Bill 1066
	Item 8: Discussion and Possible Action for an HHW EPR Model Ordinance



